Consultation on Scottish Charity Law



Consultation on Scottish Charity Law

Contents

Ministerial foreword	2
Introduction	4
SECTION 1: Publishing annual reports and accounts in full for all charities on the Scottish Charity Register	7
SECTION 2: An internal database and external register of charity trustees	9
SECTION 3: Criteria for automatic disqualification of charity trustees and individuals employed in senior management positions in charities	11
SECTION 4: A power to issue positive directions to charities	13
SECTION 5: Removal of charities from the Scottish Charity Register that are persistently failing to submit annual reports and accounts and may no longer exist	15
SECTION 6: All charities in the Scottish Charity Register to have and retain a connection in Scotland	17
SECTION 7: Inquiries into the former charity trustees of bodies which have ceased to exist and bodies which are no longer charities	18
SECTION 8: De-registered charities' assets and public benefit	19
SECTION 9: The speed and efficiency of OSCR's powers to gather information when making inquiries	20
SECTION 10: The reorganisation of charities established under royal charter, warrant or enactment	22
Respondent Information Form	23

Ministerial foreword



Scotland has a resilient, diverse and innovative charity sector. There are over 24,000 charities on the Scottish Charity Register, from grassroots sport and youth clubs, to health and social care providers, to national museums and galleries. Charities touch on almost every aspect of life and it's likely that all of us have benefitted personally from the work of a charity.

Charities also play a prominent role at a national level; bringing expertise, insight and challenge to national policy development and implementation. They are key partners in setting the agenda and delivering across the National Outcomes set out in the National Performance Framework. Without charities we could not achieve our ambition of creating a fairer and more prosperous country.

And only with public support can charities continue to make this impact. So it is vital that we do all we can to maintain, and increase, public trust and confidence in the sector.

From the 2018 survey by the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) we can see how much of an impact transparency and accountability have on levels of trust. For example, around 88 per cent of people said that seeing evidence of a charity's achievements and knowing how much of their donation went to the cause would improve their trust in charities.

It is now over 13 years since the passage of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 (the 2005 Act), which established the current regulatory framework. Over this time OSCR has shown its commitment to regulating in a pragmatic and proportionate way, balancing a widely preventative approach with strict enforcement where necessary.

Consequently OSCR has built up considerable learning about the framework, and – in line with its statutory advisory function – has proposed areas where the law could perhaps be improved to better serve the public and charities, with a focus on increasing transparency, accountability and trust.

In light of OSCR's proposals and wider stakeholder views, the time is now right to consider and consult on possible updates to the legislation.

We are seeking views from members of the public, the charity sector, and anyone with an interest in charity law. We want to learn from expertise and experience and hear first-hand about what really makes an impact on levels of public trust and confidence.

Following the consultation we will analyse the evidence and consider what options are available to us.

I would like to thank you for taking the time to respond to this consultation.

Sile Comple

Aileen Campbell Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Local Government

Introduction:

What are we consulting about?

- It has been 17 years since the Scottish Charity Law Review Commission (the 'McFadden report') proposed establishing a Scottish Charity Regulator and more than 13 years since the passage of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 which established the legislative framework for charities in Scotland.
- 2. As a government we have a responsibility to ensure that the legislative framework is fit for purpose and is protecting and serving the public interest.
- 3. Under the 2005 Act OSCR has a general function to give information or advice, or to make proposals, to the Scottish Ministers on matters relating to its functions. OSCR have used their experience to provide proposals, which focus primarily on increasing transparency, accountability and public trust, to Scottish Ministers for consideration.
- 4. We have also recently had cause to consider whether the regulatory system remains appropriate for preserving public trust, taking into account the evolving challenges being faced by the sector. In the wake of recent safeguarding concerns both at home and abroad; as well as a range of governance concerns and examples of charitable status being abused, it is more important than ever that charities and trustees operate transparently and are accountable for their actions.
- 5. We are also aware of the developments in charity law in the rest of the UK, and the implications of different regimes for charities, for example differences in trustee disqualification criteria. We are open to learning from these developments, especially where they could leave Scotland and the Scottish charity sector vulnerable.
- 6. Therefore, in light of the changing environment and OSCR's proposals, we feel the time is right to consult on potential updates to the charities legislation that would promote transparency, accountability and trust to ensure the public continue to have confidence in both the sector and OSCR.
- 7. Whilst the issues highlighted in this consultation mainly derive from OSCR's proposals, we remain open as to what if any changes are required to the statutory framework, and will be guided by the consultation responses.

Who do we want to hear from?

8. We are seeking views from members of the public, the charity sector, and anyone with an interest in charity law. We want to learn from the sector's expertise and experience and hear first-hand about what really makes an impact on levels of public trust and confidence.

9. The consultation is set out in ten sections. You do not have to complete every section in the consultation if you do not wish to. However, where you have provided a yes or no answer to a question it would be helpful if you could explain your answer where requested.

Responding to this Consultation

- 10. We are inviting responses to this consultation by 1 April 2019.
- 11. Please respond to this consultation using the Scottish Government's consultation hub, Citizen Space (http://consult.gov.scot). Access and respond to this consultation online at: https://consult.gov.scot/local-government-and-communities/scottish-charity-law.
- 12. You can save and return to your responses while the consultation is still open. Please ensure that consultation responses are submitted before the closing date of 1 April 2019.
- 13. If you are unable to respond using our consultation hub, please complete the Respondent Information Form to:

Charity Law and Volunteering Team Scottish Government 3H North, Victoria Quay Leith EH6 6QQ

Handling your response

- 14. If you respond using the consultation hub, you will be directed to the About You page before submitting your response. Please indicate how you wish your response to be handled and, in particular, whether you are content for your response to published. If you ask for your response not to be published, we will regard it as confidential, and we will treat it accordingly.
- 15. All respondents should be aware that the Scottish Government is subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and would therefore have to consider any request made to it under the Act for information relating to responses made to this consultation exercise.
- 16. If you are unable to respond via Citizen Space, please complete and return the Respondent Information Form included in this document.
- 17. To find out how we handle your personal data, please see our privacy policy: https://beta.gov.scot/privacy/

Next steps in the process

- 18. Where respondents have given permission for their response to be made public, and after we have checked that they contain no potentially defamatory material, responses will be made available to the public at http://consult.gov.scot. If you use the consultation hub to respond, you will receive a copy of your response via email.
- 19. Following the closing date, all responses will be analysed and considered along with any other available evidence to help us. Responses will be published where we have been given permission to do so. An analysis report will also be made available.

Comments and complaints

20. If you have any comments about how this consultation exercise has been conducted, please send them to the contact address above or at: Thirdsector@gov.scot.

Scottish Government consultation process

- 21. Consultation is an essential part of the policymaking process. It gives us the opportunity to consider your opinion and expertise on a proposed area of work.
- 22. You can find all our consultations online: http://consult.gov.scot. Each consultation details the issues under consideration, as well as a way for you to give us your views, either online, by email or by post.
- 23. Responses will be analysed and used as part of the decision making process, along with a range of other available information and evidence. We will publish a report of this analysis for every consultation. Depending on the nature of the consultation exercise the responses received may:
 - indicate the need for policy development or review
 - inform the development of a particular policy
 - help decisions to be made between alternative policy proposals
 - be used to finalise legislation before it is implemented
- 24. While details of particular circumstances described in a response to a consultation exercise may usefully inform the policy process, consultation exercises cannot address individual concerns and comments, which should be directed to the relevant public body.

SECTION 1: Publishing annual reports and accounts in full for all charities on the Scottish Charity Register

- 25. All charities in Scotland are under a legal duty to prepare annual reports and accounts, which they then submit to OSCR. There is no legal requirement for those reports and accounts to be published on the Scottish Charity Register. If a member of the public wants to see a charity's most recent statement of accounts, they can make a request to the charity directly.
- 26. Over the past few years OSCR has been implementing a programme of 'Targeted Regulation' – part of this is an effort to increase public trust and confidence in the sector by making more information about charities publicly available. As part of this programme, since April 2016 OSCR has been publishing the accounts of charities with an income over £25,000 and all Scottish Charitable Incorporated Organisations (SCIOs). This accounts for around half the charities registered in Scotland.
- 27. In order to comply with data protection legislation¹ OSCR has been redacting all personal information from the accounts before publishing (including charity trustee names and signatures, photographs and the signatures and personal details of independent examiners and auditors). This potentially diminishes the utility and quality of the accounts, as well as being a significant administrative burden.
- 28. An option here is to give OSCR an explicit power to publish annual reports and accounts of all charities in full, including personal information (with the exception of signatures), on the Scottish Charity Register. This is consistent with other charity regulators in the UK.
- 29. When OSCR consulted on their Targeted Regulation programme in 2014, while a small number of concerns were raised over privacy, as well as the possibility of accounts being misinterpreted or used in an unscrupulous fashion, there were high levels of support among charities and other interested parties for the publishing of accounts. OSCR's surveys in 2016 and 2018 on public attitudes to charities also found that the majority of respondents stated that open access to accounts would improve their trust in charities.

Question 1. On the Sco	ottish Charity Register,	r, snould USCR be able t	o publish
charity annual reports ar	nd accounts in full for a	all charities?	

Yes No

Please explain in the box below your answer including any potential benefits/risks:

¹ https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/

Question 2. Do you think there is any information in charity annual reports and accounts that should not be published on the Scottish Charity Register?
Yes No
Please say what information you think should not be published in the box below:
Question 3. Do you think charities should be allowed to apply for a dispensation (exemption) from having their annual reports and accounts published in full on the Scottish Charity Register?
Yes No
Please explain in the box below your answer (e.g. in what circumstances do you think a dispensation (exemption) should be allowed? Why you think a dispensation (exemption) should not be allowed?)

SECTION 2: An internal database and external register of charity trustees

- 30. There are over 24,000 charities in Scotland and it is estimated that there are over 180,000 charity trustees. Charity trustees are the people who have general control and management of the administration of a charity, and have legal duties relating to ensuring that the charity works to achieve its purposes.
- 31. At present OSCR holds limited information on Scotland's charity trustees. The law only requires the Scottish Charity Register to set out the principal office of the charity or the name and address of one of its trustees. Charity accounts also list trustee names, but these can become out of date.
- 32. Actively obtaining trustee details from all charities could give OSCR valuable and relevant information to better support effective regulation of charities and their trustees, through improved compliance, investigation and engagement work.
- 33. One option is to require OSCR to establish a new register of trustees. This could comprise an internal database for OSCR's use only and a reduced external register for public use.
- 34. As well as current trustees, such a register could include the names of any person removed as a trustee following an inquiry by OSCR under the 2005 Act or preceding legislation.
- 35. As well as trustee names, an internal database could include, for example, dates of birth (for identification purposes), home addresses and email addresses.
- 36. The external register could contain trustee names (including removed trustees) and a principal office or trustee contact address against each charity entry.
- 37. Publishing the names of trustees on a public register, as is the case with charities registered in other parts of the UK, would increase transparency and accountability to the public.
- 38. The issue of developing a trustee database was explored in OSCR's 2014
 Targeted Regulation consultation and, while respondents did see benefits in
 terms of increasing transparency and supporting OSCR's regulatory functions,
 others considered that the risks outweighed the benefits. Most concerns centred
 around the privacy of data, but there were also concerns that publishing trustee
 names on an external register might discourage people from becoming trustees,
 and that providing the information could create a burden for charities.

Question 4. Should OSCR be able to collect the trustee information noted above for use in an internal database?
Yes No

Question 5. Should the names of trustees be published on the external public register? Yes No
Question 6. Should the names of trustees who have been removed following an
inquiry by OSCR, be published on the external public register?
Yes
No
Question 7. Do you think trustees should be allowed to apply for a dispensation (exemption) from having their name published on the external public register?
Yes No
Please explain in the box below your answer (e.g. in what circumstances do you think a dispensation (exemption) should be allowed? Why you think a dispensation (exemption) should not be allowed?)
If you wish to explain any of your responses to the questions in Section 2, please
do so in the box below. (e.g. setting out what information you think should be / should not be included on an internal database and external public register, and what you see as the benefits and risks of each proposal)

SECTION 3: Criteria for automatic disqualification of charity trustees and individuals employed in senior management positions in charities

- 39. Categories of person automatically disqualified as charity trustees in Scotland are:
 - Someone with an unspent conviction for an offence involving dishonesty or an offence under the 2005 Act.
 - Someone who is an undischarged bankrupt or has a Protected Trust Deed.
 - Someone who has been removed under either Scottish or English Law or the courts from being a charity trustee.
 - Someone who is disqualified from being a company director.
- 40. Recent changes to the equivalent legislation for England and Wales have extended disqualification criteria for charity trustees, to include the following (as well as making all disqualification criteria applicable also to senior employees):
- Unspent convictions for perjury, perverting the course of justice, misconduct in public office, contempt of court and specified bribery, terrorism and money laundering offences.
- Individuals subject to terrorist asset freezing orders.
- Disobedience of specified Charity Commission orders.
- Individuals subject to notification requirements of Part 2 Sexual Offences Act 2003 (on the Sex Offenders register).
- 41. This means that there are inconsistencies across the UK in respect of the criteria for disqualification and removal of trustees.
- 42. To ensure these criteria in Scotland are fit for purpose, one option is to extend them to match the criteria for disqualification in England and Wales, with the provision that individuals can still apply to OSCR for a waiver from disqualification as the law currently allows.

Question 8. Should the criteria for disqualification and removal of charity trustees be extended to match the criteria in England and Wales?
Yes
No

Question 9. Should the criteria for disqualification and removal also be extended to those in certain senior management positions?
Yes No
If you wish to explain your reappness to any of the questions in Section 2
If you wish to explain your responses to any of the questions in Section 3, please do so in the box below. (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, what criteria for disqualification and removal should / should not be included, are there additional criteria you think should be included):
please do so in the box below. (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, what criteria for disqualification and removal should / should not be included, are
please do so in the box below. (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, what criteria for disqualification and removal should / should not be included, are
please do so in the box below. (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, what criteria for disqualification and removal should / should not be included, are
please do so in the box below. (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, what criteria for disqualification and removal should / should not be included, are
please do so in the box below. (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, what criteria for disqualification and removal should / should not be included, are

SECTION 4: A power to issue positive directions to charities

- 43. OSCR has legal powers to issue specific types of direction to charities and charity trustees. The purpose of some of these powers is to protect charities' assets or to remedy and/or prevent further misconduct by trustees where a risk has been identified as a result of OSCR's inquiries.
- 44. Most of OSCR's powers are interdictory or preventative, requiring charity trustees or others not to take particular actions. OSCR cannot direct charity trustees to take a specified positive action to remedy non-compliance or protect charitable assets.
- 45. One option would be to give OSCR a power to issue positive directions. The Charity Commission for England and Wales and the Charity Commission for Northern Ireland both have a wide ranging power of positive direction. Experience to date is that the powers have been used sparingly.
- 46. If OSCR had such a power this could enhance its inquiry and enforcement powers in terms of protecting charitable assets and supporting good governance.
- 47. Examples could include the power to direct a charity to:
 - appoint additional trustees (for example, in order to form a quorum or meet a minimum specified in a governing document).
 - take a specific action in line with the charity's governing document (for example, hold an AGM to make a specific decision).
 - manage a conflict of interest effectively and demonstrably.
- 48. A positive direction could be coupled with a corresponding obligation on OSCR to publish an associated inquiry report, which could improve public confidence that OSCR were taking positive steps to remedy misconduct and protect assets.
- 49. If a charity failed to comply with a positive direction that OSCR had issued, it could be classed as misconduct. This could mean that enforcement action would be taken against the charity or trustees as appropriate. This is currently the case if a charity fails to comply with a direction from OSCR.
- 50. The Scottish Parliament Public Audit Committee has recommended that Scottish Ministers review OSCR's powers in this respect².

_

² http://www.parliament.scot/S4 PublicAuditCommittee/Reports/PAS042016R01.pdf

Question 10. Should OSCR be given a power to issue positive directions?
Yes
No
Question 11. If you answered Yes to question 10, should a power to issue
positive directions be wide ranging or a specific power? Please select one
below:
Wide ranging
A specific power
A Specific power
Question 12. If a charity failed to comply with a positive direction that OSCR
had issued, should this be classed as trustee misconduct?
Yes
No
If you wish to evalois your responses to any of the eventions in Coeties 4
If you wish to explain your responses to any of the questions in Section 4,
I DIGGED AN EN IN THE NOV HEIMWILD A WHY VALL THINK VAE WHY VALL THINK HA WHY
please do so in the box below (e.g. why you think yes, why you think no, why
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what
you think a positive direction should be wide ranging or a specific power, what

SECTION 5: Removal of charities from the Scottish Charity Register that are persistently failing to submit annual reports and accounts and may no longer exist

- 51. All charities in Scotland are under a legal duty to prepare annual reports and accounts, and submit these to OSCR. Failure to do so can be regarded as misconduct in the administration of a charity.
- 52. There are currently a number of charities on the Scottish Charity Register for which OSCR does not have up to date reports and accounts; some of which have never submitted accounts. It is thought that a number of these charities no longer exist but have failed to notify OSCR to be removed from the Register. OSCR endeavours to understand and pursue defaulting charities, but with limited return.
- 53. While OSCR has a legal power to appoint someone to prepare accounts for a charity, and has the power to make inquiries into charities, it can only use these powers if it has current information on where the charity trustees or principal office is.
- 54. Having little or no information about a charity's finances and activities can undermine public trust and confidence in the sector, as it is difficult to know how public money and assets are being accounted for or whether a charity is providing any public benefit. This could also undermine trust in OSCR if it is deemed to have insufficient powers to deal with defaulting charities.
- 55. One option is to give OSCR a discretionary power to remove from the Register charities that have persistently failed to submit accounts.
- 56. This could enable OSCR to remove charities from the Register as a sanction for not submitting their accounts without requiring OSCR to also prove that the charity is not meeting the charity test or providing public benefit.
- 57. Another option is to give OSCR a power of positive direction which would enable OSCR to direct a charity to prepare accounts. OSCR could be required to publish an associated inquiry report which could appear next to the defaulting charity's entry on the Register.
- 58. Failure to comply with a direction could be classed as misconduct. This could mean that enforcement action would be taken against the charity or trustees as appropriate. This is currently the case if a charity fails to comply with a direction from OSCR. However, if OSCR does not have up to date trustee or principal contact information, it could still prove difficult for OSCR to take enforcement action.

Question 13. Should OSCR be able to remove charities from the Scottish Charity Register if they have persistently failed to submit annual reports and accounts?
Yes No
Question 14. Should OSCR be given a positive power of direction to direct a charity to prepare annual reports and accounts?
Yes No
1 () Ligition 15 It a charity tailed to comply with a positive direction to prepare
Question 15. If a charity failed to comply with a positive direction to prepare annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct?
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct?
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes No
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes No Question 16. If you wish to explain your responses to any of the questions in Section 5, please do so in the box below (e.g. why you think yes and why you think
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes No Question 16. If you wish to explain your responses to any of the questions in Section 5, please do so in the box below (e.g. why you think yes and why you think
annual reports and accounts, do you think this should be classed as trustee misconduct? Yes No Question 16. If you wish to explain your responses to any of the questions in Section 5, please do so in the box below (e.g. why you think yes and why you think

SECTION 6: All charities in the Scottish Charity Register to have and retain a connection in Scotland

- 59. To be a registered charity in Scotland a body must have wholly charitable purposes and provide public benefit, but there is no requirement for the body to have any connection to Scotland (with the exception of SCIOs). This means that OSCR may be compelled to register a charity that meets the charity test but has no activities in Scotland and no trustee connection with Scotland.
- 60. If a charity has no connection to Scotland it can make it more difficult for OSCR to effectively regulate them. This is because it can be difficult for OSCR to ascertain what activities the charity is carrying out and how they are providing public benefit. There is also a higher risk of OSCR losing touch with such charities.
- 61. One option would be to require all charities in the Scottish Charity Register to have, and retain, a connection to Scotland. This would not preclude the registration of cross-border charities, which could continue to register with both the Charity Commission for England and Wales and OSCR.
- 62. However, it would mean that charities established under the law of a country or territory other than Scotland, which are managed or controlled wholly or mainly out with Scotland, do not occupy land or premises in Scotland and do not carry out activities in any shop or similar premises in Scotland, would no longer be able to be entered on the Register.

Question 17. Should all charities registered in Scotland be required to have and retain a connection with Scotland?
Yes No
Please explain in the box below why you think yes or no:

SECTION 7: Inquiries into the former charity trustees of bodies which have ceased to exist and bodies which are no longer charities

- 63. The Court of Session, on application from OSCR, has the power to permanently disqualify the following individuals from being charity trustees:
- former charity trustees of a body which is no longer a charity
- former trustees of a charity which has ceased to exist, and
- individuals who were in management and control of a body which is no longer controlled by a charity.
- 64. However, OSCR does not have the power to make inquiries into a body which is no longer a charity, a body which is no longer controlled by a charity or a charity which has ceased to exist. This means that if OSCR is not aware of potential misconduct before a charity ceases to exist, before the charity is removed from the Scottish Charity Register (either at its request or OSCR's power of removal), or while a body was controlled by a charity, OSCR cannot open an inquiry if information subsequently comes to light.
- 65. If OSCR cannot open an inquiry, it cannot gather the necessary evidence to allow it to make an application to the Court of Session.
- 66. This poses a risk that trustees who are guilty of serious misconduct could go on to be trustees of other charities if the misconduct was only discovered after the charity in question ceased to exist or was removed from the Register.
- 67. One option would be to give OSCR the power to make inquiries into a body which is no longer a charity, a body which is no longer controlled by a charity or a charity which has ceased to exist at any time, to allow them to gather the necessary evidence to make an application for permanent disqualification to the Court of Session.

Question 18. Should OSCR be able to make inquiries into former trustees of a body which is no longer a charity, a charity which has ceased to exist and individuals who were in management and control of a body which is no longer controlled by a charity?
Yes No
Please explain in the box below why you think yes or no:

SECTION 8: De-registered charities' assets and public benefit

- 68. If a charity is removed from the Scottish Charity Register but continues to operate as a non-charitable body, it is under a duty to use the assets it held before it deregistered for the charitable purposes then set out in its Register entry. The former trustees are also under a duty to submit statements of account for the preremoval assets of the body to OSCR on an annual basis. OSCR continues to monitor the assets until they are spent or become negligible.
- 69. While any such 'pre-removal' assets must be used for charitable purposes, there is no requirement for them to be used to provide public benefit. This means that assets that have been built up during the life of the charity could potentially be used in ways that did not provide public benefit and for private gain.
- 70. One option is to require bodies that have de-registered as charities to continue to use the assets held at the time of removal from the Register to provide public benefit.
- 71. This could increase public trust as it would guarantee that any funds or assets that have been donated to a charity must continue to be used to for public rather than private benefit, even if the charity de-registers.
- 72. However, it could also create an additional burden on bodies that have deregistered to continue to provide public benefit with their pre-removal assets despite no longer benefitting from charitable status.

Question 19. Should bodies that have de-registered as charities be required to continue to use the assets held at the time of removal from the Scottish Charity
Register to provide public benefit?
Yes
No
Please explain in the box below why you think yes or no:

<u>SECTION 9: The speed and efficiency of OSCR's powers to gather information when making inquiries</u>

- 73. OSCR can legally require any person (third party) to provide information which it considers necessary for its inquiries about charities. If OSCR requests such information about a charity from a third party, it must also give notice to the charity in question that it is the subject of the request, and provide the charity with the right to review.
- 74. However, the legislation does not take account of situations where the body in respect of which information is sought is not a charity. For example OSCR cannot serve such a notice on:
 - a body or individual that is misrepresenting themselves as a charity,
 - bodies which are no longer charities in respect of property they had at the time of removal from the Register,
 - former trustees of charities which have ceased to exist.
- 75. The effect of this is that OSCR cannot require a third party to provide information as it cannot serve the required notice on a charity. This potentially hinders OSCR inquiries as it cannot access all the information it may require.
- 76. One solution is to give OSCR the power to give the required notice to a body or individual that is misrepresenting themselves as a charity, bodies which are no longer charities and former trustees of charities which have ceased to exist.

Question 20. Should OSCR be given the power to give the required notice of a request for information to a body or individual that is misrepresenting themselves as a charity, that is no longer charity, and to former trustees of a charity which has ceased to exist?
Yes No
Please explain in the box below why you think yes or no:

77. In the situations where OSCR is requesting information from a third party about a charity to help with its inquiries, and there is a charity to notify that they have made the request, OSCR must adhere to certain notice periods.

78. The notice periods are:

- OSCR must give the charity that is subject of the request for information 14 days' notice of its decision to request the information from the third party.
- Within 21 days of receiving that notice, the charity can request OSCR to review its decision to request the information.
- OSCR must, within 21 days of such a request, review the decision and give notice of the outcome of the review to the charity.

79. The legislation could perhaps be clearer on:

- whether all three notice periods need to have expired in full (i.e. 56 days) before OSCR can see the information from the third party; and
- whether a charity, which does not request a review within 21 days of receiving the notice, can see the information from the third party once that 21 day period has expired.
- 80. As there is potential ambiguity in the legislation, OSCR's current approach is to wait for all three time periods to expire in full before viewing the information from the third party. This potentially increases the amount of time it takes for OSCR to make its inquiries, which can be detrimental to all parties involved.
- 81. An option is to clarify that these time periods can overlap. This could reduce the time it takes for OSCR to make inquiries as it would have access to the information it needs sooner.

Question 21. Should it be clarified that the notice periods to charities that are		
subject to a request for information can overlap?		
Yes		
No		
Please explain in the box below why you think yes or no:		

<u>SECTION 10: The reorganisation of charities established under royal charter, warrant or enactment</u>

- 82. Reorganisation can be a valuable tool for certain charities in Scotland. A reorganisation scheme can enable them to modernise their governance or purposes and to release unused or underused funds for public benefit.
- 83. If charities want to reorganise they need to apply to OSCR for approval; however it is not clear in the legislation whether it is competent for OSCR to approve reorganisation schemes proposed by certain charities established under a royal charter, warrant, or enactment.
- 84. While this issue only affects a very small number of cases, there has been substantial expense to the charities involved and consequent use of parliamentary time, putting through private bills that could have been avoided if the legislation was less ambiguous.
- 85. One option would be to clarify the legislation to make clear whether OSCR can approve a reorganisation scheme for charities that have been established by royal charter, warrant or enactment.

Question 22. Should the legislation be clarified to make clear whether OSCR can approve reorganisation schemes for certain charities that have been established by royal charter, warrant or enactment?
Yes
No
Diagon avalois in the how heless why you think you as no
Please explain in the box below why you think yes or no:



Consultation on Scottish Charity Law

RESPONDENT INFORMATION FORM

Please Note this form must be completed and returned with your response.

To find out how we handle your personal data, please see our privacy policy: https://beta.gov.scot/privacy/

Are you responding as an individual or an organisation?					
☐ Individual					
☐ Organisation					
Full name or organisation's name					
Phone number					
Address					
Postcode					
Email					
The Scottish Government would like you permission to publish your consultation response. Please indicate your publishin preference:		Information for organisations: The option 'Publish response only (without name)' is available for individual respondents only. If this option is selected, the organisation name will still be published.			
☐ Publish response with name☐ Publish response only (without name)☐ Do not publish response		If you choose the option 'Do not publish response', your organisation name may still be listed as having responded to the consultation in, for example, the analysis report.			

We will share your response internally with other Scottish Government policy teams
who may be addressing the issues you discuss. They may wish to contact you again
in the future, but we require your permission to do so. Are you content for Scottish
Government to contact you again in relation to this consultation exercise?
☐ Yes
□ No



© Crown copyright 2019



This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit **nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3** or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: **psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk**.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.scot

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at The Scottish Government St Andrew's House Edinburgh EH1 3DG

ISBN: 978-1-78781-499-8 (web only)

Published by The Scottish Government, January 2019

Produced for The Scottish Government by APS Group Scotland, 21 Tennant Street, Edinburgh EH6 5NA PPDAS506186 (01/19)